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City of Forest Park

FINANCE DEPARTMENT - IncoEe Tax Office

September 15, 2020
The Citizens of Forest Park, Ohio,

Honorable Mayor and Members of City Council,
Lenders and Other Interested Parties,

THE COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

We are pleased to present our 2019 Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR) for the City of
Forest Park for your review. This report has been prepared in conformity with generally accepted
accounting principles (GAAP) and is audited in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards.
State law requires that every general purpose local government publish a complete set of financial
statements. This report is published to fulfill that requirement for the year ended December 31, 2019.
This report contains the basic financial statements and other financial and statistical data that provide
a complete and full disclosure of all material financial aspects of the City of Forest Park.

A complete CAFR is not required to be prepared, but by doing so it represents a commitment by the
City of Forest Park (the City) to achieve the highest nationally recognized standards of excellence in
financial reporting as established by the Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) and the
Government Finance Officers Association (GFOA).

This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the City.
Consequently, management assumes full responsibility for the completeness and reliability of all of the
information presented in this report. To provide a basis for making these representations,
management has established a comprehensive internal control framework that is designed both to
protect the government’s assets from loss, theft, or misuse and to compile reliable information for the
preparation of the City’s financial statements in conformity with GAAP. Because the cost of internal
controls should not outweigh their benefits, the City’s comprehensive framework of internal controls
has been designed to provide reasonable rather than absolute assurance that the financial statements
will be free from material misstatement. As management, we assert that, to the best of our knowledge
and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all material respects.

The City’s financial statements have been audited by Plattenburg and Associates. The goal of the
independent audit was to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements of the City for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019 are free of material misstatement. The independent audit
involved examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements; assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management;
and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. The independent auditor concluded,
based upon the audit, that there was a reasonable basis for rendering an unmodified opinion that the

vii



City’s financial statements for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019, are fairly presented in
conformity with GAAP. The independent auditor’s opinion is presented as the first component of the
financial section of this report.

GAAP requires management to provide a narrative introduction, overview, and analysis to accompany
the basic financial statements in the form of Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A). This
letter of transmittal is designed to complement MD&A and should be read in conjunction with it. The
City’s MD&A can be found immediately following the report of the independent auditors.

CITY OVERVIEW

The City is located in the southwestern portion of the State of Ohio between the cities of Cincinnati
and Dayton, and is entirely within the County of Hamilton. The City traces its roots to the mid-1950’s
when the Federal Government encouraged the development of a second greenbelt community in the
Cincinnati area. The Village of Greenhills (Greenbhills) was the first greenbelt community, a concept
patterned after the famed garden cities of England. In contrast to Greenhills, however, development
of Forest Park was handled through private enterprise, specifically the Warner-Kanter Corporation.
That was in 1954. Within two years, the first homes were ready for occupancy. Forest Park progressed
rapidly with the formation of a civic association in 1958, a volunteer fire department and incorporation
as avillage in 1961, and city status (population in excess of 5,000) in 1968 with the adoption of a Home
Rule Charter that same year. The City of Forest Park was also the site of Homearama in 1963 and 1971.

As of the 2010 U. S. Census Report, Forest Park was the third largest city in Hamilton County, with a
population of 18,720. Its 62 miles of streets and 3,800-plus acres are bounded by Hamilton Avenue to
the west, Springfield Pike (Route 4) to the east, Sharon Road to the south and the Hamilton County line
north of [-275 to the north. Forest Park is 14 miles north of downtown Cincinnati, 35 miles south of
Dayton, and within 125 miles of the cities of Columbus, Indianapolis, Lexington, and Louisville. Via I-
275, the City is only 35 minutes from the Greater Cincinnati International Airport. Because of this ideal
location, the City enjoys a reputation as a premier site for both residential and commercial
development.

The City operates under the City Manager-Council plan pursuant to its Charter, but is also subject to
the general statutes of the State of Ohio governing municipalities. In addition, the City may exercise
all powers of local self-government under Article XVIII, Section 3, of the Ohio Constitution. The
legislative authority of the City is vested in a seven member Council whose members are elected to
four-year overlapping terms with an election of three (or four in alternate council election years)
council seats every two years. The Council enacts ordinances and resolutions to provide for city
services, to levy taxes, to make appropriations, to borrow money, to set salaries of all employees of
the City, whether elected or appointed, to adopt a budget and to perform such other duties and
exercise such other rights, not inconsistent with the City Charter, as may be granted to the legislative
authority of any municipality of Ohio. The presiding officer of the Council is the Mayor, who is chosen
by the council every two years under the Charter. All Council members are from the City at large.

The City Manager is the chief executive, administrative, and law enforcement officer of the City. The
Manager is charged with responsibility for enforcing the laws and ordinances of the City. The Manager
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appoints and removes all heads of departments and all subordinate officers and employees of the City,
except the City Law Director and Clerk of Council. He exercises control over all departments created
by the City Council. The Law Director serves as legal advisor and attorney for the City and performs
duties as provided under the Charter and general laws of Ohio pertaining to municipal legal advisors.
The Director of Finance is appointed by the City Manager with the concurrence of the City Council to
supervise the Department of Finance and performs the powers, duties and functions of the fiscal officer
of the City pursuant to the Charter and general laws of Ohio.

The City provides numerous services including police, fire and emergency services protection, the
construction and maintenance of highways and streets; parks and recreational program services, and
stormwater management.

ECONOMIC CONDITIONS AND OUTLOOK

In 2019, the City of Forest Park made significant investments to facilitate private investment, improve
publicinfrastructure, and ultimately strengthen its first class business environment. Equally important,
city leaders established effective programs (some unique to Forest Park) to improve the community’s
position as a true destination for business investment. Consequently, companies continue to find long
term success here in Forest Park.

Our economic development opportunities produce impressive results. Since 2013, local companies
have invested more than $90 million on projects that created or retained over 3,000 jobs,
demonstrating that Forest Park is a top choice for business development. With our competitive
household and per capita income numbers, Forest Park remains a great place for families and
businesses alike. Forest Park has 621 businesses employing more than 10,000 people, and the City’s
growing business community provides job opportunities for residents (source: HCDC).

Redevelopment and revitalization are important goals of our Economic Development Department. In
2019, we secured two important projects in our City’s original business district. Faxon Machining
completed its purchase and renovation of a building adjacent to their headquarters on Adwood Drive,
and the Hamilton County Library announced plans for a new facility to replace its popular Parkdale
Branch.

Faxon Machining started operations in 1978 and moved to
Forest Park in 1994. After moving to their new home on
Adwood Drive, the Faxon family moved into specialty
machining and automotive work. Over the years, their
company has expanded into other industries including oil and
gas, aerospace, general machining, and national defense. The
Faxons acquired a nearby building at the beginning of 2019 and
quickly added another 35,000 square feet to that building.
Today, total facilities for Faxon Machining exceed 220,000
square feet on almost 15 acres. The Faxons invested $4 million
on the two projects, creating or retaining 175 jobs in our
community.




City officials were invited to serve on an advisory
committee, created at in the first quarter of 2019, to assist
Hamilton County Library officials with a comprehensive
evaluation of their existing facilities. After several months
of discussion, Library officials decided to build a NEXTGEN
facility at or near the existing Forest Park location.
Customer mapping and visitor counts show that the library
is already a regional destination.

Now, Library officials will invest more than $10 million to build a NEW 25,000 square foot state of the
art facility. Construction will take place in 2022. No doubt this announcement will help us attract
investment to the City’s original business district on Northland Boulevard.

The retention and expansion of existing businesses is another key component of the City’s economic
redevelopment program. Over the years, retention projects have contributed much to our success.
We work closely with REDI Cincinnati, Jobs Ohio, and HCDC to identify companies considering
expansion or relocation and create solutions for their space needs. In addition to Faxon, several other
companies elected to stay and expand their Forest Park operations in 2019.

Enriching Spaces specializes in the design of inspired work
spaces for professional offices, institutions of higher learning,
and healthcare environments. The company has an
impressive customer base both regionally and nationwide. In
1989, Enriching Spaces built an impressive headquarters
facility in Forest Park. The company completed a major
renovation of its award-winning office in 2019, as well as a
lower level studio, all consistent with their pursuit of WELL
Building certification. The project is a collaboration between
City officials and the company’s management team. Other
options including relocation were on the table, but ultimately
the company invested $300,000 on a project that kept 15 full-
time jobs in the City.

Our next project is yet another example of a successful
business choosing to stay and grow its operations here in
Forest Park. Environmental Quality Management was
founded in 1990. The company offers expert response for
challenges involving environmental remediation;
environmental design; remedial construction and site
management, regulatory compliance, sampling and
monitoring; and, health and safety services.

One of the original tenants at Carillon Park, EQM had participated in the construction of an impressive
38,000 square foot building several years ago. As the company approached the end of its lease, the



executive management team explored a number of options. Thanks to our City’s advantageous
location and easy access to the region’s transportation network, EQM decided to stay in Forest Park.
They plan to invest $900,000 over the next several years to extend their lease and renovate the
building, keeping 60 full-time engineering jobs in our community.

The attraction of business investment from outside of the community allows us to create job
opportunities for residents and generate new tax revenue for the city. We work closely with regional
partners (e.g. HCDC, REDI Cincinnati, Duke Energy, Port Authority and Jobs Ohio) to identify such
prospects. We also collaborate with developers, commercial real estate brokers, and existing Forest
Park companies to secure new business investment. In 2019, there were a number of new additions
to our business community including a couple of notable projects.

National Powersport Auctions (NPA) invested more than $10
million to buy and renovate a vacant building on Carillon
Boulevard bringing two dozen jobs to our community. The
company converted a vacant and underperforming building
into a true community asset. Established in 1990, NPA is the
world’s largest provider of sport vehicle re-marketing services.
Its national footprint serves the industry’s largest financial
institutions, OEMs and dealers with a multitude of live and
online selling platforms. The company offers comprehensive
data services including their NPA Value Guide, the industry’s top wholesale valuation tool.

OHI Electric made a significant investment to buy and renovate a building in the Northland Industrial
Park in 2019. This family-owned company is a full service electrical contractor that is licensed for both
residential and commercial work in Ohio and Kentucky. In business since 2007, the company has
multiple certifications. Because of their excellent customer service, the company was recognized as
one of the best businesses in our region by Cincinnati Magazine in 2012 and by Home Advisor in 2017.
They made Forest Park their permanent home for their business after renting space here for several
years. In 2019, they bought a vacant building on Ashburn Road, citing the City’s excellent proximity to
the highway and safe environment as the key reasons for their decision to stay in Forest Park.

The future for Forest Park’s business community is positive.
Manufacturing areas continue to be strong, as
demonstrated by major projects at Faxon, OHI Electric, and
Magna Machine. In 2019, AE Door and Window opened a
new multi-million-dollar showroom on Sharon Road, and
Speedway celebrated the completion of an impressive
renovation on Smiley Avenue. Three companies that had
recently received enterprise zone incentives to facilitate
expansions have far exceeded expectations. Collectively,
Ameritas, Cincinnati Testing Laboratories, and FRY Fastening
Systems invested more $22.3 million on projects involving the retention or creation of 423 jobs.
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In spite of these notable successes, the City of Forest Park still faces significant challenges. New
commercial construction has slowed, and the City still has double-digit vacancy rates at some of its
multi-tenant office buildings. Current trends in retail have left several shopping centers with significant
vacancies. For example, the City continues to struggle with the condition of Forest Fair Village. This
1.6 million square foot regional shopping mall continues to have a high level of vacancies and has even
fallen into disrepair. Unfortunately, the current owner has yet to advance a plan to redevelop this 90-
acre site, in spite of legitimate inquiries by others to acquire the property.

Consequently, redevelopment and revitalization will continue to be important goals of our Economic
Development Department. The repositioning of underperforming retail properties in particular will
become increasingly important. Converting vacant buildings and raw land into true assets that bring
jobs and investment to the community is critical to our City’s future success. The Magna Machine
conversion of an abandoned retail center and attraction of the new Library facility are two examples
of how we can successfully transition such properties. The creation of an Opportunity Zone in the
community provides us with yet another economic development tool to create mutually beneficial
outcomes for the City and potential investors.

BUSINESS INCENTIVES

The Governmental Accounting Standards Board released Statement No. 77 in 2015. This standard
required all governmental entities to disclose essential information about the nature and amount of
tax revenue abatements granted by local jurisdictions. The details of the tax abatements for the City
of Forest Park are disclosed in Note 20 entitled “Tax Abatements”. The standard focuses only on tax
revenue lost; this is only one side of the story. There are benefits derived from the City participating
in business incentives programs as noted in the previous section.

The City of Forest Park participates in the Ohio Enterprise Zone program. Business incentives are tools
that cities can utilize to entice a business to commit to making investments to improve or construct
buildings and also to create or retain jobs within a community. The Ohio Enterprise Zone Program is
administered through Hamilton County and legislated by Ohio Revised Code Sections 5709.61 through
5709.85. One of the goals of the program is to increase private investment in Forest Park for the zones
established within the City. Another goal is to bring new income and foster growth within the City by
retaining or creating new employment opportunities for residents.

The process begins with a potential business submitting an application to the City. After reviewing the
application, the City can accept, amend or deny a business request based upon specific goals and
objectives the City would like to achieve, such as a specific level of new payroll, or retained payroll; or
a specific level of capital investment in the community. The City will then prepare legislation and
publicly discuss and make recommendations to City Council on how any decisions were made. City
council has the authority to confirm or deny the City’s request within the passage or failure of
legislation put before them. When an agreement impacts Winton Woods School District, a long-
standing agreement exists that the City will share some of the new income tax revenue within the
school district.

Xii



The City of Forest Park and Hamilton County administer an Ohio Enterprise Zone Program that provides
partial property tax exemptions for companies that invest in a designated area. No new agreements
were negotiated in 2019, but the City has three agreements in place from previous years. Ameritas,
Cincinnati Testing Laboratories and FRY Fastening Systems recently completed projects in the City’s
enterprise zone. Collectively these companies invested more $22 million on projects involving the
retention or creation of 423 jobs and approximately $30 million in annual payroll. The City of Forest
Park also operates its own redevelopment incentive program. This initiative allows the city to provide
dollars that facilitate redevelopment projects at sites identified as priorities in its comprehensive
redevelopment plan. In 2019, the City of Forest Park provided redevelopment grants to three
companies: Faxon Machining, Enriching Spaces, and Environmental Quality Management. The City
invested $185,000 on these projects. In return, the three companies invested close to $S2 million on
projects that involved the retention or creation of 250 jobs and more than $10 million in annual payroll.

LONG-TERM FINANCIAL PLANNING

The general fund year-end balance is at 21.57% of total revenues, which is slightly above the City’s
targeted goal to maintain a general fund balance of at least 20% of total revenue. The City’s ability to
maintain a fund balance near its targeted goal is a reflection of our financial strength and quantifies
the ability of the general fund to support all other City funds. The City will strive to maintain this ideal
percentage of carryover despite future demands placed on the general fund.

FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The City utilizes a fully-automated accounting system. The Finance Department audits each voucher
prior to payment and ensures that the financial information is both accurate and reliable. All funds are
included in the annual appropriated budget. The level of budgetary control (i.e., the level at which
expenditures cannot legally exceed the appropriated amount) is at the department level and within
each department at the levels of personal services, contractual services and supplies and materials.
Budgetary control is maintained by encumbering the estimated purchase amounts prior to the release
of purchase orders to vendors. Purchase orders that result in overruns of budgeted balances are not
released until additional appropriations are made available through transfers or council action.
Appropriations, initial and supplemental, must be authorized by City Council. As demonstrated by the
statements and schedules included in the financial section of this Comprehensive Annual Financial
Report, the City continues to meet its responsibility for sound fiscal management.

CITY INCOME TAX

Beginning January 1t of 2014 and forward, residents of the City receive 25% credit for taxes paid to
another jurisdiction with a maximum credit of .375% of total wages. The income tax modification has
allowed the City to maintain the quality of public services delivered to the residents of Forest Park. This
change in the taxing structure is evident in the table below where income tax revenue increased by
8.15% from 2014 to 2015. The income tax revenues help fund operating expenses in the General Fund
as well as provide debt service for the General Obligation Bonds. Revenues from this tax are directly
related to employment levels and the general economic conditions in the Cincinnati area. It also applies
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to net income of business organizations derived from business activities conducted in the City.
Revenues for the past five years as reported in the General Fund are as follows:

Revenues
2019......ccvvvees $10,683,111
2018........oveen. $9,640,862
2017, $9,699,717
2016.......ucveeee. $9,748,448
2015......cies $9,258,358

The recent incline in municipal income tax revenue is a combination of economic development business
retention efforts and changes in collection procedures regarding delinquent income tax collection. The
change in delinquent income tax collections was a necessary step to off-set the recent changes in Ohio
state law regarding standardization of income tax collection and the change in how business net profit
tax is collected. Ohio’s House Bill 49 provided an option for businesses to file through the State of Ohio
instead of the City of Forest Park Income Tax Office. This change has made it extremely difficult to
know for certain if the City is receiving all the net profit tax it is due. House Bill 49 became effective
January 1% of 2018 for the 2017 tax season. Since the implementation of the new net profit options,
the City has approximately 30% of our business residents opting into the state income collection option.

CASH MANAGEMENT

The City’s cash management program addresses the issues of safety, liquidity and yield while
maximizing return on idle cash. The City utilizes the Star Ohio program investment pool operated by
the Treasurer of the State of Ohio for ready cash. The City invests temporarily idle cash in order to
maximize the return on dollars available to support expenditures. An investment policy was
implemented in order to provide the highest investment return with maximum security. This policy
also allows the City to meet the daily cash flow needs and conforms to all Ohio and City statutes
governing the investment of public funds. The City utilized two investment managers to oversee the
City’s portfolio.

RISK MANAGEMENT

The City is exposed to a variety of accidental losses and has established a risk management strategy
that attempts to minimize losses and carrying costs of insurance.

Risk control techniques have been established to reasonably assure that the City's employees are
aware of their responsibilities regarding loss exposures related to their duties. Similarly, risk control
techniques have been established to reduce possible losses to property owned or under the control of
the City. Furthermore, supervisory personnel are held responsible for monitoring risk control
techniques on an operational basis. See Note 5 for further information on risk management.

The primary techniques used for risk financing are the purchase of insurance policies from commercial
insurers that include a large deductible amount. The use of a large deductible clause reduces the cost
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of insurance. However, if losses occur, the portion of the uninsured losses is not expected to be
significant with respect to the financial position of the City.

CERTIFICATE OF ACHIEVEMENT FOR EXCELLENCE IN FINANCIALREPORTING

The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada (GFOA) awarded a
Certificate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the City of Forest Park for its
comprehensive annual financial report for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018. This was the
twenty-sixth consecutive year that the government has achieved this prestigious award. In order to be
awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a governmental unit must publish an easily readable and
efficiently organized comprehensive annual financial report. This report must satisfy both generally
accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements.

A Certificate of Achievement is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current
comprehensive annual financial report continues to meet the Certificate of Achievement Program’s

requirements and we are submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another certificate.

POPULAR ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORTING AWARD

In 2017, the City received its first award for Popular Annual Financial Reporting from the GFOA for our
2016 Community Report. The Community Report summarizes information from our comprehensive
annual financial report. It is specifically designed to be easy to understand for general public use. It
serves as a user-friendly companion to the City’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, which
presents a detailed picture of the City’s financial health. The City has received an award for our
Community Report for the past three years. It is the City’s plan to produce and distribute to our
residents a Community Report for 2019 and apply once again for this award.

DISTINGUISHED BUDGET PRESENTATION AWARD

The GFOA presented a Distinguished Budget Presentation Award to the City of Forest Park, Ohio for
our Annual Budget Document 2020. This was the sixth time the City has received this award. The
Distinguished Budget Presentation Award marks the City’s membership in an elite group of about 1,623
jurisdictions in the US and Canada that receive this award out of over 80,000 eligible jurisdictions. In
Ohio, only 28 budgets received this award.

In order to receive this award, a governmental unit must publish a budget document that meets
program criteria as a policy document, as an operations guide, as a financial plan, and as a
communications device. This award is valid for a period of one year only. We believe our current
budget continues to conform to program requirements, and we are submitting it to GFOA to determine
its eligibility for another award.
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Brenda Reinert, Kevin Moeller and Tekiquia Bailey for their assistance with this Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report and their continued high-quality work in diligently carrying out their responsibilities
within the Finance Department. Additionally, we wish to thank the independent accounting firm of
Plattenburg and Associates, Certified Public Accountants for their assistance with the GAAP conversion
and independent audit. Members of the Plattenburg firm contributed to the preparation and
examination of these financial statements along with the City’s finance department staff.

Finally, a special word of thanks is necessary to recognize the efforts of members of City Council and
the City Administration past and present whose conservative fiscal management and solid decision-
making are reflected in the sound financial position of the City of Forest Park. As a result of their hard
work model format, this report presents information in an organized manner to provide greater insight
regarding the City’s finances. We hope readers of this financial report will find the report beneficial in
understanding the City’s financial organization, financial position and condition, net assets and results
of operations.
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PLATTENBURG

Certified Public Accountants

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

City Council

City of Forest Park
Hamilton County

1201 West Kemper Road
Forest Park, Ohio 45240

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each
major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the City of Forest Park, Ohio (the City) as of and for the year
ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the City's basic
financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design, implementation, and
maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor's Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards applicable to
financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States.
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates
made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial
position of the governmental activities, the business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund
information of the City, as of December 31, 2019, and the respective changes in financial position, and, where applicable,
cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America.
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Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 21 to the financial statements, during 2020, the financial impact of COVID-19 and the ensuing
emergency measures will impact subsequent periods of the City. We did not modify our opinion regarding this matter.

Other Matters
Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the management's discussion and
analysis, budgetary comparison schedules, and schedules of pension information and other postemployment information
listed in the table of contents be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not
a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to
be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational,
economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of
management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with
management's responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our
audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information
because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any
assurance.

Supplementary and Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively comprise the
City’s basic financial statements. The introductory section, combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements
and schedules and statistical section, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and are not a required part of the
basic financial statements.

The combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules are the responsibility of management
and were derived from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic
financial statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial
statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the
United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual nonmajor fund financial statements and schedules
are fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole.

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the
basic financial statements and, accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 15, 2020, on our
consideration of the City’s internal control over financial reporting and our tests of its compliance with certain provisions
of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is to describe the
scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not to
provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the City’s internal control over financial
reporting and compliance.

Pfé“!ueqlij é 455"""{1&5{ Tne.

Cincinnati, Ohio
September 15, 2020
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City of Forest Park, Ohio
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019
(Unaudited)

The City of Forest Park's discussion and analysis of the annual financial reports provides a review of the
financial performance for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. The intent of this discussion and
analysis is to look at the City’s financial performance as a whole; readers should also review the
transmittal letter, notes to the basic financial statements and financial statements to enhance their
understanding of the City’s performance.

Financial Highlights
Key financial highlights for 2019 are as follows:
e Intotal, net position increased $10,207,838.

e General revenues accounted for $19,021,179 in revenue or 81% of all revenues. Program
specific revenues in the form of charges for services and grants and contributions accounted for
$4,552,610 or 19% of total revenues of $23,573,7809.

e The City had $11,663,676 in expenses related to governmental activities; only $2,973,982 of
these expenses were offset by program specific charges for services, grants, or contributions.
General revenues of $18,796,632 provided for the remainder of these programs.

e Business-type operations reflected an operating income of $65,238.
Overview of the Financial Statements

This annual report consists of a series of financial statements. These statements are presented so that
the reader can understand the City's financial situation as a whole and to give a detailed view of the
City's fiscal condition.

The Statement of Net Position and Statement of Activities provide information about the activities of
the City as a whole and present a long-term view of the City's finances. Major fund financial statements
provide the next level of detail. For governmental funds, these statements tell how services were
financed in the short-term as well as the amount of funds available for future spending. The fund
financial statements also look at the City's most significant funds with all other nonmajor funds
presented in total in one column.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The analysis of the City as a whole begins with the Government-Wide Financial Statements. These
reports provide information that will help the reader to determine if the City of Forest Park is financially
better off or worse off as a result of the year's activities. These statements include all assets and
liabilities using the accrual basis of accounting similar to the accounting used by private sector
companies. All current year revenues and expenses are taken into account regardless of when cash is
received or paid.



City of Forest Park, Ohio
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019
(Unaudited)

These two statements report the City's net position and changes to those assets. This change informs
the reader whether the City's financial position, as a whole, has improved or diminished. In evaluating
the overall financial health, the reader of these financial statements needs to take into account
non-financial factors that also impact the City's financial well-being. Some of these factors include the
City's tax base and the condition of capital assets.

In the Government-Wide Financial Statements, the overall financial position of the City is presented in
the following manner:

e Governmental Activities - Most of the City's services are reported here including police, fire, rescue,
street maintenance, parks and recreation, and general administration. Income taxes, property
taxes, intergovernmental revenue, charges for services, and interest finance most of these activities.

e Business-Type Activities - These services include Stormwater Management Utility and Solid Waste
Collection. Service fees for these operations are charged based upon the amount of usage or a
usage fee. The intent is that the fees charged recoup operational costs.

Fund Financial Statements

Information about the City's major funds are presented in the Fund Financial Statements (see table of
contents). Fund financial statements provide detailed information about the City's major funds - not the
City as a whole. Some funds are required by State law and bond covenants. Other funds may be
established by the City, with approval of the Council, to help control, manage and report money
received for a particular purpose or to show that the City is meeting legal responsibilities for use of
grants. The City's major funds are General Fund, Fire Fund, Cincinnati Mall TIF Fund, Economic
Development Fund, Stormwater Management Utility and Solid Waste Collection.

Governmental Funds - The City's services are reported in governmental funds, which focus on how
money flows into and out of those funds and the balances left at year-end that are available for
spending. These funds are reported using an accounting method called modified accrual accounting,
which measures cash and all other financial assets that can readily be converted to cash. The
governmental fund statements provide a detailed short-term view of the City's general government
operations and the basic services it provides. Governmental fund information helps to determine
whether there are more or less financial resources that can be spent in the near future on services
provided to our residents. The relationship (or differences) between governmental activities (reported in
the Statement of Net Position and the Statement of Activities) and governmental funds is reconciled in
the financial statements.

Proprietary Funds - When the City charges citizens for the services it provides, with the intent of
recapturing operating costs, these services are generally reported in proprietary funds. Proprietary
funds use the same basis of accounting as business-type activities; therefore, these statements will
essentially match.



City of Forest Park, Ohio
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019
(Unaudited)

Fiduciary Funds - Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties
outside the government. Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the Government-Wide Financial
Statements because the resources of those funds are not available to support the City's own programs.
All of the City's fiduciary activities are reported in a separate Statement of Fiduciary Net Position.

The City as a Whole

As stated previously, the Statement of Net Position looks at the City as a whole. Table 1 provides a
summary of the City's net position for 2019 compared to 2018.

Table 1
Net Position
Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018

Assets:
Current and Other Assets $23,790,629 $22,891,632 $2,285,038 $2,356,622 26,075,667 $25,248,254
Capital Assets 45,013,037 45,043,545 2,420,734 2,297,566 47,433,771 47,341,111
Total Assets 68,803,666 67,935,177 4,705,772 4,654,188 73,509,438 72,589,365
Deferred Outflows of Resources:

OPEB 1,574,644 1,511,970 7,140 5,022 1,581,784 1,516,992

Pension 7,052,757 3,170,552 50,306 24,120 7,103,063 3,194,672
Total Deferred Outflows of Resources 8,627,401 4,682,522 57,446 29,142 8,684,847 4,711,664
Liabilities:
Long-Term Liabilities 37,318,611 36,974,309 256,993 167,913 37,575,604 37,142,222
Other Liabilities 737,207 5,417,885 46,971 128,822 784,178 5,546,707
Total Liabilities 38,055,818 42,392,194 303,964 296,735 38,359,782 42,688,929
Deferred Inflows of Resources:

Property Taxes 5,034,448 4,778,620 0 0 5,034,448 4,778,620

OPEB 1,007,767 768,907 1,346 7,231 1,009,113 776,138

Revenue in Lieu of Taxes 1,857,936 1,896,381 0 0 1,857,936 1,896,381

Pension 534,647 1,948,084 3,859 26,215 538,506 1,974,299
Total Deferred Inflows of Resources 8,434,798 9,391,992 5,205 33,446 8,440,003 9,425,438
Net Position:
Net Investment In Capital Assets 38,838,311 38,943,244 2,420,734 2,297,566 41,259,045 41,240,810
Restricted 7,724,881 5,734,229 0 0 7,724,881 5,734,229
Unrestricted (15,622,741) (23,843,960) 2,033,315 2,055,583 (13,589,426)  (21,788,377)
Total Net Position $30,940,451 $20,833,513 $4,454,049 $4,353,149 $35,394,500  $25,186,662

O Net Position

$80,000,000 - BLiabilities

OAssets
$60,000,000 -

m Deferred Inflows
$40,000,000 - Deferred Outflows
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019
(Unaudited)

Net position of the City’s governmental activities increased $10,106,938. The City had an unrestricted
net position balance of ($15,622,741). A positive unrestricted net position balance may be used to
meet the government’s ongoing obligations to citizens and creditors. Current and Other Assets
increased mainly due to an increase in cash. Total Long-Term Liabilities increased mainly due to the
issuance of a long term bond anticipation note.

Table 2 shows the changes in net position for the year ended December 31, 2019, and revenue and
expense comparisons to 2018.

Table 2
Changes in Net Position

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Program Revenues:
Charges for Services $1,310,589 $1,000,595 $1,578,628 $1,686,629 $2,889,217 $2,687,224
Operating Grants and Contributions 1,663,393 1,389,169 0 0 1,663,393 1,389,169
Capital Grants and Contributions 0 1,979 0 0 0 1,979
Total Program Revenues 2,973,982 2,391,743 1,578,628 1,686,629 4,552,610 4,078,372
General Revenues:
Income Taxes 10,280,740 9,414,248 0 0 10,280,740 9,414,248
Property Taxes 5,355,883 5,460,302 0 0 5,355,883 5,460,302
Grants and Entitlements 571,232 312,153 0 0 571,232 312,153
Investment Earnings 512,898 110,858 35,662 33,470 548,560 144,328
Other Revenues 2,075,879 2,254,542 188,885 218,961 2,264,764 2,473,503
Total General Revenues 18,796,632 17,552,103 224,547 252,431 19,021,179 17,804,534
Total Revenues 21,770,614 19,943,846 1,803,175 1,939,060 23,573,789 21,882,906
Program Expenses:
General Government 3,043,152 4,013,016 0 0 3,043,152 4,013,016
Public Safety 4,872,618 12,687,015 0 0 4,872,618 12,687,015
Community Environment 504,958 967,903 0 0 504,958 967,903
Leisure Time Activities 319,410 360,611 0 0 319,410 360,611
Public Works and Streets 2,714,900 3,551,729 0 0 2,714,900 3,551,729
Public Health and Welfare 0 47,524 0 0 0 47,524
Interest and Other Charges 208,638 82,363 0 0 208,638 82,363
Stormwater Management Utility 0 0 551,076 348,319 551,076 348,319
Solid Waste Collection 0 0 1,151,199 1,109,372 1,151,199 1,109,372
Total Program Expenses 11,663,676 21,710,161 1,702,275 1,457,691 13,365,951 23,167,852
Change in Net Position 10,106,938 (1,766,315) 100,900 481,369 10,207,838 (1,284,946)
Net Position - Beginning of Year 20,833,513 22,599,828 4,353,149 3,871,780 25,186,662 26,471,608
Net Position - End of Year $30,940,451 $20,833,513 $4,454,049 $4,353,149 $35,394,500 $25,186,662

Governmental Activities

The City receives an income tax, which is based on 1.5% of all salaries, wages, commissions, and other
compensation and on net profits earned from businesses and residents living within the City.

Property taxes and income taxes made up 72% of revenues for governmental activities for the City
during 2019. The City's reliance upon tax revenues is demonstrated by the chart below indicating
approximately 72% of total revenues from municipal income and property taxes:
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2019 Percent of Total
Charges for Services $1,310,589 6.0%
Operating Grants and Contributions 1,663,393 7.6%
Municipal Income Taxes 10,280,740 47.2%
Property Taxes 5,355,883 24.6%
Revenue in Lieu of Taxes 1,867,264 8.6%
Grants and Entitlements not Restricted 571,232 2.6%
Investment Earnings 512,898 2.4%
Other Revenues 208,615 1.0%
Total Revenues $21,770,614 100.0%

General Government includes legislative and administration expenses, including City Council, the City
Manager’s office, the Law Director, Finance, Human Resources, Building Maintenance, Fleet
Maintenance, Public Works Administration and various non-department charges.

Income tax revenue increased mainly due to an increase in income tax receipt collections. Public Works
and Streets decreased mainly due to a decrease in street repairs and maintenance throughout the City.
Public Safety expenses decreased mainly due to changes related to net pension and OPEB liabilities.

Business-Type Activities

Business-type activities include Stormwater Management Utility and Solid Waste Collection. These
programs had operating revenues of $1,767,513 and expenses of $1,702,275 for fiscal year 2019.
Business activities receive no support from tax revenues. The business activities net position at the end
of the year was $4,454,049, which increased $100,900 from 2018 mainly due to operating revenues
exceeding operating expenditures in 2019.

The Stormwater Management Utility fund had operating income of $20,645 in 2019. The Solid Waste
Collection fund had operating income of $44,593 in 2019.

The City has four major governmental funds: the General Fund, the Fire Fund, the Cincinnati Mall TIF
Fund and the Economic Development Fund. Assets of these funds comprised $18,611,919 (78%) of the
total $23,768,309 governmental funds’ assets.

General Fund: Fund balance at December 31, 2019 was $7,224,551, an increase in fund balance of
$2,351,513 from 2018. The fund balance increased due to an increase in income tax revenues along
with a smaller amount being transferred out of the fund compared to the prior year.

Fire Fund: Fund balance at December 31, 2019 was $2,915,564, an increase in fund balance of $771,571
from 2018. The fund balance increased due to revenues exceeding expenditures during the year.

Cincinnati Mall TIF Fund: Fund balance at December 31, 2019 was $355, a decrease in fund balance of
$13,571 from 2018. The fund balance decreased due to expenditures exceeding revenues during the
year.
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Economic Development Fund: Fund balance at December 31, 2019 was $313,116 an increase in fund
balance of $1,153,083. The fund balance increased mainly due to note proceeds from the issuance of a
long term bond anticipation note.

General Fund Budgeting Highlights

The City’s General Fund budget is formally adopted at the expenditure legal level of control for each
fund (activity within a program within a fund). Financial reports, which compare actual performance
with the budget, are prepared monthly and presented to the Council so the Council is able to review the
financial status and measure the effectiveness of the budgetary controls.

As the City completed the year, its General Fund balance reported an actual fund balance of $6,050,294,
on a Non-GAAP Budgetary Basis.

Variations from the final budget amounts to the original amounts are primarily due to the following
reasons: The City underestimated the public safety and general government expenditures for 2019.
Variations from actual expenditures to the final budget expenditures are primarily due to the following
reasons: The City overestimated the public safety and general government expenditures for 2019.
Capital Assets and Debt Administration

Capital Assets

At year end, the City had $47,433,771 invested in land, buildings and improvements, equipment and
infrastructure. Table 3 shows 2019 balances compared to 2018:

Table 3
Capital Assets

Governmental Activities Business-Type Activities Total
2019 2018 2019 2018 2019 2018
Land $14,401,401  $14,391,776 $179,780 $179,780  $14,581,181  $14,571,556
Construction in Progress 0 0 0 8,955 0 8,955
Buildings and Improvements 8,993,480 8,581,675 48,616 48,616 9,042,096 8,630,291
Equipment 11,800,880 10,850,088 64,278 64,278 11,865,158 10,914,366
Infrastructure 46,721,826 46,128,796 2,713,477 2,479,759 49,435,303 48,608,555
Accumulated Depreciation (36,904,550)  (34,908,790) (585,417) (483,822)  (37,489,967) (35,392,612)
Total Net Capital Assets $45,013,037  $45,043,545 $2,420,734  $2,297,566 $47,433,771  S$47,341,111

The slight increase in Capital Assets is mainly due to current year depreciation expense being less than
current year additions.

See Note 6 to the basic financial statements for further details on the City’s capital assets.
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Debt

At December 31, 2019, the City had $1,986,726 in leases outstanding, $4,188,000 in long term bond
anticipation notes, and $4,961,291 due within one year. The following table summarizes the City’s debt
outstanding as of December 31, 2019 and 2018:

Table 4
Outstanding Debt at Year End

2019 2018
Governmental Activities:
Unvoted General Obligation Bonds:
Refunding Various Purpose 3.89% S0 $270,000
Premium on Refunding 0 9,433
Long Term Bond Anticipation Notes 2.50% 4,188,000 0
Capital Leases 2.37% 1,986,726 2,454,113
Total Governmental Activities $6,174,726 $2,733,546

See Notes 9 and 10 to the basic financial statements for further details on the City’s long-term debt.
Contacting the City's Finance Department

This financial report is designed to provide our citizens, taxpayers, customers and investors, and
creditors with a general overview of the City's finances and to show the City's accountability for the

money it receives. If you have any questions about this report or need additional financial information,
contact the Director of Finance, City of Forest Park, 1201 West Kemper Road, Forest Park, Ohio 45240.

This Space Intentionally Left Blank
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City of Forest Park, Ohio
Statement of Net Position
December 31, 2019

Assets:
Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments
Receivables (Net):

Taxes

Accounts

Interest

Intergovernmental
Prepaid Iltems
Nondepreciable Capital Assets
Depreciable Capital Assets, Net

Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Pension
OPEB

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources

Liabilities:
Accounts Payable
Accrued Wages and Benefits
Accrued Interest Payable
Long-Term Liabilities:
Due Within One Year
Due In More Than One Year
Net Pension Liability
Net OPEB Liability
Other Amounts

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Property Taxes

Revenue in Lieu of Taxes
Pension

OPEB

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Net Position:
Net Investment in Capital Assets
Restricted for:
Capital Projects
Street Improvements
State Highway
Fire
Community Development
Other Purposes
Unrestricted

Total Net Position

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
$13,500,845 $1,954,777 $15,455,622
7,141,480 0 7,141,480
150,022 325,686 475,708
17,010 2,149 19,159
2,862,920 0 2,862,920
118,352 2,426 120,778
14,401,401 179,780 14,581,181
30,611,636 2,240,954 32,852,590
68,803,666 4,705,772 73,509,438
7,052,757 50,306 7,103,063
1,574,644 7,140 1,581,784
8,627,401 57,446 8,684,847
198,953 33,599 232,552
477,178 13,372 490,550
61,076 0 61,076
4,961,291 357 4,961,648
25,612,719 171,849 25,784,568
5,158,988 83,042 5,242,030
1,585,613 1,745 1,587,358
38,055,818 303,964 38,359,782
5,034,448 0 5,034,448
1,857,936 0 1,857,936
534,647 3,859 538,506
1,007,767 1,346 1,009,113
8,434,798 5,205 8,440,003
38,838,311 2,420,734 41,259,045
1,183,943 0 1,183,943
1,694,805 0 1,694,805
234,094 0 234,094
3,363,998 0 3,363,998
898,755 0 898,755
349,286 0 349,286
(15,622,741) 2,033,315 (13,589,426)
$30,940,451 $4,454,049 $35,394,500
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City of Forest Park, Ohio
Statement of Activities
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2019

Program Revenues

Charges for Operating Grants
Expenses Services and Sales and Contributions
Governmental Activities:
General Government $3,043,152 $56,765 $6,353
Public Safety 4,872,618 823,910 342,389
Community Environment 504,958 29,734 0
Leisure Time Activities 319,410 61,500 0
Public Works and Streets 2,714,900 0 1,314,651
Public Health and Welfare 0 338,680 0
Interest and Other Charges 208,638 0 0
Total Governmental Activities 11,663,676 1,310,589 1,663,393
Business-Type Activities:
Stormwater Management Utility 551,076 571,721 0
Solid Waste Collection 1,151,199 1,006,907 0
Total Business-Type Activities 1,702,275 1,578,628 0
Totals $13,365,951 $2,889,217 $1,663,393

General Revenues:
Income Taxes
Property Taxes Levied for:
General Purposes
Special Revenue Purposes
Grants and Entitlements, Not Restricted
Revenue in Lieu of Taxes
Investment Earnings
Other Revenues

Total General Revenues
Change in Net Position

Net Position - Beginning of Year
Net Position - End of Year

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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Net (Expense) Revenue
and Changes in Net Position

Governmental Business-Type

Activities Activities Total
($2,980,034) S0 ($2,980,034)
(3,706,319) 0 (3,706,319)
(475,224) 0 (475,224)
(257,910) 0 (257,910)
(1,400,249) 0 (1,400,249)
338,680 0 338,680
(208,638) 0 (208,638)
(8,689,694) 0 (8,689,694)
0 20,645 20,645
0 (144,292) (144,292)
0 (123,647) (123,647)
(8,689,694) (123,647) (8,813,341)
10,280,740 0 10,280,740
963,758 0 963,758
4,392,125 0 4,392,125
571,232 0 571,232
1,867,264 0 1,867,264
512,898 35,662 548,560
208,615 188,885 397,500
18,796,632 224,547 19,021,179
10,106,938 100,900 10,207,838
20,833,513 4,353,149 25,186,662
$30,940,451 $4,454,049 $35,394,500
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City of Forest Park, Ohio
Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
December 31, 2019

Assets:
Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments
Receivables (Net):
Taxes
Accounts
Interest
Intergovernmental
Prepaid Items

Total Assets

Liabilities:

Accounts Payable

Accrued Wages and Benefits
Accrued Interest Payable

Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Property Taxes

Income Taxes

Grants and Other Taxes
Revenue in Lieu of Taxes
Investment Earnings

Accounts

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources

Fund Balances:
Nonspendable
Restricted
Committed
Assigned
Unassigned

Total Fund Balances

Total Liabilities, Deferred Inflows and Fund Balances

Cincinnati Other Total
Mall Economic Governmental Governmental

General Fire TIF Development Funds Funds
$6,405,555 $2,956,709 $355 $332,542 $3,803,758 $13,498,919
2,531,545 4,609,935 0 0 0 7,141,480
0 150,022 0 0 0 150,022
8,142 4,125 0 394 4,349 17,010
185,255 161,171 1,200,388 0 1,316,106 2,862,920
54,235 11,546 0 0 32,177 97,958
9,184,732 7,893,508 1,200,743 332,936 5,156,390 23,768,309
120,520 9,804 0 86 61,709 192,119
313,953 144,148 0 0 19,077 477,178
0 0 0 19,469 41,607 61,076
434,473 153,952 0 19,555 122,393 730,373
837,552 4,609,935 0 0 0 5,447,487
553,317 0 0 0 0 553,317
129,362 161,171 0 0 412,428 702,961
0 0 1,200,388 0 657,548 1,857,936
5,477 2,775 0 265 2,926 11,443
0 50,111 0 0 0 50,111
1,525,708 4,823,992 1,200,388 265 1,072,902 8,623,255
54,235 11,546 0 0 32,177 97,958
0 2,904,018 355 313,116 3,626,890 6,844,379
0 0 0 0 160,663 160,663
241,178 0 0 0 145,949 387,127
6,929,138 0 0 0 (4,584) 6,924,554
7,224,551 2,915,564 355 313,116 3,961,095 14,414,681
$9,184,732 $7,893,508 $1,200,743 $332,936 $5,156,390 $23,768,309

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Forest Park, Ohio

Reconciliation of Total Governmental Fund Balance to
Net Position of Governmental Activities

December 31, 2019

Total Governmental Fund Balance

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of net position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial
resources and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Capital assets used in the operation of Governmental Funds

Other long-term assets are not available to pay for current-
period expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds.

Income Taxes

Delinquent Property Taxes
Interest
Intergovernmental

Other Receivables

An internal service fund is used by management to charge
back costs to individual funds. The assets and
liabilities of the internal service fund are included in
governmental activities in the statement of net position.

Internal Service Net Position
Some liabilities reported in the statement of net position do not

require the use of current financial resources and, therefore,
are not reported as liabilities in governmental funds.

Compensated Absences

Deferred outflows and inflows or resources related to pensions/OPEB

are applicable to future periods and, therefore, are not
reported in the funds.

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB

Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current
period and, therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Net Pension Liability

Net OPEB Liability
Other Amounts

Net Position of Governmental Activities

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

$14,414,681
45,013,037
$553,317
413,039
11,443
702,961
50,111
1,730,871
15,486
(372,178)
7,052,757
(534,647)
1,574,644
(1,007,767)
7,084,987
(25,612,719)
(5,158,988)
(6,174,726)
(36,946,433)
$30,940,451
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City of Forest Park, Ohio
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures
and Changes in Fund Balance
Governmental Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2019

Revenues:

Property and Other Taxes
Income Taxes

Charges for Services
Investment Earnings
Intergovernmental
Special Assessments
Fines, Licenses & Permits
Revenue in Lieu of Taxes
Other Revenues

Total Revenues

Expenditures:
Current:
General Government
Public Safety
Community Environment
Leisure Time Activities
Public Works and Streets
Capital Outlay
Debt Service:
Principal
Interest and Other Charges

Total Expenditures
Excess of Revenues Over (Under) Expenditures
Other Financing Sources (Uses):
Issuance of Capital Leases
Note Proceeds
Transfers In
Transfers (Out)
Total Other Financing Sources (Uses)
Net Change in Fund Balance

Fund Balance - Beginning of Year

Fund Balance - End of Year

Cincinnati Other Total
Mall Economic Governmental Governmental

General Fire TIF Development Funds Funds
$968,499 $4,431,858 S0 S0 S0 $5,400,357
10,840,520 0 0 0 0 10,840,520
114,686 540,098 0 0 0 654,784
382,741 46,511 0 8,728 77,820 515,800
401,537 336,869 0 150,000 1,274,833 2,163,239
0 0 0 28,444 0 28,444
515,810 3,080 0 0 81,909 600,799
0 0 1,200,388 0 666,876 1,867,264
141,868 1,243 0 0 65,505 208,616
13,365,661 5,359,659 1,200,388 187,172 2,166,943 22,279,823
2,597,490 0 1,213,959 0 8,197 3,819,646
5,805,077 4,588,088 0 0 38,402 10,431,567
776,220 0 0 6,461 18,765 801,446
315,947 0 0 0 0 315,947
1,127,414 0 0 8,350 970,826 2,106,590
0 0 0 310,680 1,923,923 2,234,603
0 0 0 0 1,037,387 1,037,387
0 0 0 43,598 175,619 219,217
10,622,148 4,588,088 1,213,959 369,089 4,173,119 20,966,403
2,743,513 771,571 (13,571) (181,917) (2,006,176) 1,313,420
0 0 0 0 300,000 300,000
0 0 0 1,335,000 2,853,000 4,188,000
0 0 0 0 1,055,000 1,055,000
(392,000) 0 0 0 (663,000) (1,055,000)
(392,000) 0 0 1,335,000 3,545,000 4,488,000
2,351,513 771,571 (13,571) 1,153,083 1,538,824 5,801,420
4,873,038 2,143,993 13,926 (839,967) 2,422,271 8,613,261
$7,224,551 $2,915,564 $355 $313,116 $3,961,095 $14,414,681

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Forest Park, Ohio
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes
in Fund Balance of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2019

Net Change in Fund Balance - Total Governmental Funds

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the
statement of activities are different because:

Governmental funds report capital asset additions as expenditures.
However, in the statement of activities, the cost of those assets is
allocated over their estimated useful lives as depreciation
expense. This is the amount of the difference between capital
asset additions and depreciation in the current period.

Capital assets used in governmental activities
Depreciation Expense

Governmental funds report City pension/OPEB contributions as
expenditures. However in the Statement of Activites, the cost
of pension/OPEB benefits earned net of employee contributions is
reported as pension/OPEB expense.

City pension contributions

Cost of benefits earned net of employee contributions - Pension
City OPEB contributions

Cost of benefits earned net of employee contributions - OPEB

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide
current financial resources are not reported as revenues in
the funds.

Income Taxes

Delinquent Property Taxes
Interest
Intergovernmental

Other

Repayment of bond principal is an expenditure in the
governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term
liabilities in the statement of net position.

In the statement of activities interest expense is accrued when incurred;

whereas, in governmental funds an interest expenditure is reported
when due.

Some expenses reported in the statement of activities do not require the
use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as

expenditures in governmental funds.

Compensated Absences
Amortization of Bond Premium

The internal service fund used by management to charge back costs
to individual funds is not reported in the entity-wide statement of
activities. Governmental fund expenditures and the related internal
service fund revenues are eliminated. The net revenue (expense) of

the internal service fund is allocated among the governmental activities.

Change in Net Position - Internal Service Funds

Proceeds from debt issues are an other financing source in the funds,
but a debt issue increases long-term liabilities in the statement
of net position.

Change in Net Position of Governmental Activities

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.

$5,801,420

$1,965,252

(1,995,760)

(30,508)

1,626,448
(3,917,957)
28,643

10,457,152

8,194,286

(559,780)
(44,474)
(2,954)
71,386
26,613

(509,209)

1,037,387

1,146

22,048
9,433

31,481

68,935

(4,488,000)

$10,106,938



City of Forest Park, Ohio
Statement of Net Position
Proprietary Funds
December 31, 2019

Current Assets:
Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments
Receivables (Net):
Accounts
Interest
Prepaid Items

Total Current Assets

Noncurrent Assets:
Capital Assets:
Nondepreciable Capital Assets
Depreciable Capital Assets, Net

Total Noncurrent Assets

Total Assets

Deferred Outflows of Resources:
Pension

OPEB

Total Deferred Outflows of Resources
Liabilities:

Current Liabilities:

Accounts Payable

Accrued Wages and Benefits
Compensated Absences

Total Current Liabilities
Long-Term Liabilities:
Compensated Absences

Net Pension Liability

Net OPEB Liability

Total Noncurrent Liabilities
Total Liabilities

Deferred Inflows of Resources:
Pension

OPEB

Total Deferred Inflows of Resources
Net Position:

Net Investment in Capital Assets

Unrestricted

Total Net Position

Business-Type Activities -Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Stormwater Total Activities-
Management Solid Waste Business-Type Internal Service
Utility Collection Activities Funds

$1,202,236 $752,541 $1,954,777 $1,926
145,743 179,943 325,686 0
1,376 773 2,149 0
2,426 0 2,426 20,394
1,351,781 933,257 2,285,038 22,320
179,780 0 179,780 0
2,214,834 26,120 2,240,954 0
2,394,614 26,120 2,420,734 0
3,746,395 959,377 4,705,772 22,320
31,577 18,729 50,306 0
4,482 2,658 7,140 0
36,059 21,387 57,446 0
27,903 5,696 33,599 6,834
8,144 5,228 13,372 0

357 0 357 0

36,404 10,924 47,328 6,834
1,745 0 1,745 0
107,870 63,979 171,849 0
52,126 30,916 83,042 0
161,741 94,895 256,636 0
198,145 105,819 303,964 6,834
2,422 1,437 3,859 0

845 501 1,346 0

3,267 1,938 5,205 0
2,394,614 26,120 2,420,734 0
1,186,428 846,887 2,033,315 15,486
$3,581,042 $873,007 $4,454,049 $15,486

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Forest Park, Ohio
Statement of Revenues, Expenses
and Changes in Fund Net Position
Proprietary Funds
For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2019

Operating Revenues:
Charges for Services
Other Revenues

Total Operating Revenues
Operating Expenses:
Personal Services
Contactual Services
Materials and Supplies
Depreciation

Other Expense

Total Operating Expenses

Operating Income (Loss)

Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses):
Investment Earnings

Total Non-Operating Revenues (Expenses)
Change in Net Position
Net Position - Beginning of Year

Net Position - End of Year

Business-Type Activities -Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Stormwater Total Activities-
Management Solid Waste Business-Type Internal Service
Utility Collection Activities Funds
$571,721 $1,006,907 $1,578,628 $260,953
0 188,885 188,885 0
571,721 1,195,792 1,767,513 260,953
299,411 166,840 466,251 0
142,757 934,234 1,076,991 189,444
231 7 238 2,574
100,682 913 101,595 0
7,995 49,205 57,200 0
551,076 1,151,199 1,702,275 192,018
20,645 44,593 65,238 68,935
22,301 13,361 35,662 0
22,301 13,361 35,662 0
42,946 57,954 100,900 68,935
3,538,096 815,053 4,353,149 (53,449)
$3,581,042 $873,007 $4,454,049 $15,486

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Forest Park, Ohio

Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Funds

For the Fiscal Year Ended December 31, 2019

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Cash Received from Customers

Cash Received from Interfund Services
Cash Payments to Employees

Cash Payments to Suppliers

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities

Cash Flows from Capital and Related Financing
Activities:
Payments for Capital Acquisitions

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Capital and
Related Financing Activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Earnings on Investments

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Cash Flows from
Investing Activities

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year
Cash and Cash Equivalents - End of Year

Reconciliation of Operating Income (Loss) to
Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities
Operating Income (Loss)
Adjustments:
Depreciation
Changes in Assets & Liabilities:
(Increase) Decrease in Receivables
(Increase) Decrease in Prepaid Items
(Increase) Decrease in Deferred Outflows of Resources
Increase (Decrease) in Net OPEB Liability
Increase (Decrease) in Payables
Increase (Decrease) in Accrued Liabilities
Increase (Decrease) in Deferred Inflows of Resources
Increase (Decrease) in Net Pension Liability

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities

Business-Type Activities -Enterprise Funds

Governmental
Stormwater Total Activities-
Management Solid Waste Business-Type  Internal Service
Utility Collection Activities Funds
$566,699 $1,196,984 $1,763,683 S0
0 0 0 260,953
(283,030) (158,077) (441,107) 0
(128,456) (1,073,635) (1,202,091) (261,158)
155,213 (34,728) 120,485 (205)
(233,718) 0 (233,718) 0
(233,718) 0 (233,718) 0
22,760 22,651 45,411 0
22,760 22,651 45,411 0
(55,745) (12,077) (67,822) (205)
1,257,981 764,618 2,022,599 2,131
1,202,236 752,541 1,954,777 1,926
20,645 44,593 65,238 68,935
100,682 913 101,595 0
(5,022) 1,192 (3,830) 0
1,570 5,228 6,798 (20,394)
(17,767) (10,537) (28,304) 0
9,296 5,514 14,810 0
20,957 (93,485) (72,528) (48,746)
(3,433) (4,922) (8,355) 0
(17,727) (10,514) (28,241) 0
46,012 27,290 73,302 0
$155,213 ($34,728) $120,485 ($205)

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Forest Park, Ohio
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
Fiduciary Fund

December 31, 2019

Assets:
Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments

Total Assets

Liabilities:
Due to Other

Total Liabilities

Agency

$220,797
220,797

220,797

$220,797

See accompanying notes to the basic financial statements.
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City of Forest Park, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

Note 1 — Description of the City and Reporting Entity

The City traces its roots to the mid-1950's when the Federal Government encouraged development of a
second greenbelt community in the Cincinnati area.

The City operates as a Home Rule City in accordance with Article XVIII of the Ohio Constitution under a
City Manager-Council form of government. The City provides services as authorized by its charter.

Component units are legally separate organizations for which the City is financially accountable. The City
is financially accountable for an organization if the City appoints a voting majority of the organization's
governing board; and (1) the City is able to significantly influence the programs or services performed or
provided by the organization; or (2) the City is legally entitled to or can otherwise access the
organization's resources; the City is legally obligated or has otherwise assumed the responsibility to
finance the deficits of, or provide financial support to, the organization; or the City is obligated for the
debt of the organizations. Component units may also include organizations for which the City authorizes
the issuance of debt or the levying of taxes, or determines the budget. The City has no component units
that meet the above criteria. However, the City is associated with a jointly governed organization. The
Waycross Community Programming Board is discussed in Note 13 to the financial statements.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The financial statements of the City have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) as applied to local governmental units. The
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for
establishing governmental accounting and financial principles. The most significant of the City’s
accounting policies are described below.

Measurement Focus

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements are prepared using the economic resources
measurement focus. All assets and all liabilities associated with the operation of the City are
included on the Statement of Net Position.

Fund Financial Statements

All governmental funds are accounted for using a flow of current financial resources measurement
focus. With this measurement focus, only current assets and current liabilities generally are
included on the balance sheet. The statement of revenues, expenditures and changes in fund
balances reports on the sources (i.e., revenues and other financing sources) and uses (i.e.,
expenditures and other financing uses) of current financial resources. This approach differs from
the manner in which the governmental activities of the government-wide financial statements are
prepared. Governmental fund financial statements therefore include a reconciliation with brief
explanations to better identify the relationship between the government-wide statements and the
statements for governmental funds.
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City of Forest Park, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

Like the government-wide statements, all proprietary funds are accounted for on a flow of economic
resources measurement focus. All assets, all liabilities and deferred inflows/outflows associated
with the operation of these funds are included on the statement of net position. The statement of
revenues, expenses and changes in fund net position presents increases (i.e., revenues) and
decreases (i.e., expenses) in total net position. The statement of cash flows provides information
about how the City finances and meets the cash flow needs of its proprietary activities.

Basis of Presentation
The City’s basic financial statements consist of government-wide statements, including a statement of
net position and a statement of activities, and fund financial statements which provide a more detailed

level of financial information.

Government-Wide Financial Statements

The statement of net position and the statement of activities display information about the City as a
whole. These statements include the financial activities of the primary government, except for
fiduciary funds.

The statement of net position presents the financial condition of the governmental and business-
type activities of the City at year-end. The statement of activities presents a comparison between
direct expenses and program revenues for each program or function of the City’s governmental
activities. Direct expenses are those that are specifically associated with a service, program or
department and therefore clearly identifiable to a particular function. Program revenues include
charges paid by the recipient of the goods or services offered by the program, grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular
program and interest earned on grants that is required to be used to support a particular program.
Revenues which are not classified as program revenues are presented as general revenues of the
City, with certain limited exceptions. The comparison of direct expenses with program revenues
identifies the extent to which each governmental function is self-financing or draws from the
general revenues of the City.

Fund Financial Statements

During the year, the City segregates transactions related to certain City functions or activities in
separate funds in order to aid financial management and to demonstrate legal compliance. Fund
financial statements are designed to present financial information of the City at this more detailed
level. The focus of governmental fund financial statements is on major funds. Each major fund is
presented in a separate column. Non-major funds are aggregated and presented in a single column.
Fiduciary funds are reported by type.

Fund Accounting
The City uses funds to maintain its financial records during the year. A fund is defined as a fiscal and

accounting entity with a self balancing set of accounts. There are three categories of funds:
governmental, proprietary and fiduciary.
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City of Forest Park, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

Governmental Funds

Governmental funds are those through which most governmental functions typically are financed.
Governmental fund reporting focuses on the sources, uses and balances of current financial
resources. Expendable assets are assigned to the various governmental funds according to the
purposes for which they may or must be used. Current liabilities are assigned to the fund from
which they will be paid. The difference between governmental fund assets and deferred outflows,
and liabilities and deferred inflows is reported as fund balance. The following are the City's major
governmental funds:

General Fund - The general fund accounts for all financial resources except those required to be
accounted for in another fund. The general fund balance is available to the City for any purpose
provided it is expended or transferred according to the charter of the City and/or the general
laws of Ohio.

Fire Fund - This special revenue fund accounts for expenditures of property tax revenues and
other resources in the operation of the City's Fire Department.

Cincinnati Mall TIF Fund - This special revenue fund is used to account for the proceeds of bonds
issued for the financing for the Cincinnati Mall.

Economic Development Fund - This capital project fund has been used to account for the
acquisition, construction and debt service for the Kemper Meadow Business Center. It may also
be used for the purchase, rehabilitation, and resale of properties.

The other governmental funds of the City account for grants and other resources that are generally
restricted to use for a particular purpose.

Proprietary Funds

Proprietary fund reporting focuses on changes in net position, financial position and cash flows.
Proprietary funds are classified as either enterprise or internal service.

Enterprise Funds: Enterprise funds may be used to account for any activity for which a fee is
charged to external users for goods or services. The following are the City’s major enterprise
funds:

Stormwater Management Utility Fund — This fund is used to account for the operations of
the City’s Stormwater Management Utility.

Solid Waste Collection Fund — To account for the operations of solid waste and recycling
collection and disposal services for the City.

Internal Service Fund — This fund is used to account for the financing of goods and services
provided by the information services department to other departments or agencies of the City,
or to other governments, on a cost reimbursement basis.
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City of Forest Park, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

Fiduciary Funds

Fiduciary fund reporting focuses on net position and changes in net position. The fiduciary fund
category is split into four classifications: agency funds, pension trust funds, investment trust funds
and private-purpose trust funds. The agency funds account for building permit fees collected on
behalf of the State and performance bonds pledged by contractors (Refundable Fees Agency Fund)
as well as Mayor's court (Mayor’s Court Agency Fund) collections that are distributed to the State of
Ohio as well as bonds held for individuals. The City's agency funds are custodial in nature (assets
equal liabilities) and do not involve measurement of results of operations. The City currently has no
trust funds.

Basis of Accounting

Basis of accounting determines when transactions are recorded in the financial records and reported on
the financial statements. Government-wide financial statements are prepared using the accrual basis of
accounting. Governmental funds use the modified accrual basis of accounting. Fiduciary funds also use
the accrual basis of accounting. Differences in the accrual and modified accrual basis of accounting arise
in the recognition of revenue, the recording of deferred inflows and in the presentation of expenses
versus expenditures.

Revenues - Exchange and Non-exchange Transactions

Revenue resulting from exchange transactions, in which each party gives and receives essentially
equal value, is recorded on the accrual basis when the exchange takes place. On a modified accrual
basis, revenue is recorded in the fiscal year in which the resources are measurable and become
available. Available means that the resources will be collected within the current fiscal year or are
expected to be collected soon enough thereafter to be used to pay liabilities of the current fiscal
year. For the City, available means expected to be received within sixty days of year-end.

Nonexchange transactions, in which the City receives value without directly giving equal value in
return, include income taxes, property taxes, grants, entitlements and donations. On an accrual
basis, revenue from income taxes is recognized in the period in which the income is earned.
Revenue from property taxes is recognized in the year for which the taxes are levied. Revenue from
grants, entitlements and donations is recognized in the year in which all eligibility requirements
have been satisfied. Eligibility requirements include timing requirements, which specify the year
when the resources are required to be used or the year when use is first permitted; matching
requirements, in which the City must provide local resources to be used for a specified purpose; and
expenditure requirements, in which the resources are provided to the City on a reimbursement
basis. On a modified accrual basis, revenue from nonexchange transactions must also be available
before it can be recognized.

Under the modified accrual basis, the following revenue sources are considered to be both

measurable and available at year-end: income tax, state-levied locally shared taxes (including
gasoline tax), fines and forfeitures, interest, grants and fees.
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City of Forest Park, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources - In addition to assets, the statements of financial position
will sometimes report a separate section for deferred outflows of resources. Deferred outflows of
resources, represent consumption of net position that applies to a future period and will not be
recognized as an outflow of resources (expense/expenditure) until then. For the City, deferred
outflows of resources include pension and OPEB which is reported on the government-wide
statement of net position. The deferred outflows of resources related to pension and OPEB are
explained in Notes 11 and 12.

In addition to liabilities, the statements of financial position report a separate section for deferred
inflows of resources. Deferred inflows of resources represent an acquisition of net position that
applies to a future period and will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that
time. For the City, deferred inflows of resources include property taxes, income taxes, grants and
other taxes, revenue in lieu of taxes, investment earnings, OPEB, pension and accounts revenue.
Property taxes represent amounts for which there is an enforceable legal claim as of December 31,
2019, but which were levied to finance year 2020 operations. Revenue in lieu of taxes includes tax
increment financing agreements. These amounts have been recorded as deferred inflows on both
the government-wide statement of net position and the governmental fund financial statements. All
other revenues are reported only on the governmental funds balance sheet, and represent
receivables which will not be collected within the available period. Deferred inflows of resources
related to pension and OPEB are reported on the governmental-wide statement of net position.
(See Notes 11 and 12.)

Expenses/Expenditures

On the accrual basis of accounting, expenses are recognized at the time they are incurred. The
measurement focus of governmental fund accounting is on decreases in net financial resources
(expenditures) rather than expenses. Expenditures are generally recognized in the accounting
period in which the related fund liability is incurred, if measurable. Allocations of cost, such as
depreciation and amortization, are not recognized in governmental funds.

Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments

To improve cash management the City’s cash and investments are pooled. Monies for all funds, except
cash and investments held in segregated accounts, are maintained in this pool. Individual fund integrity
is maintained through City records. Each fund’s interest in the pool is presented as “Equity in Pooled
Cash and Investments” on the balance sheet.

Investments are reported at fair value which is based on quoted market prices.

STAR Ohio (the State Treasury Asset Reserve of Ohio), is an investment pool managed by the State
Treasurer’s Office which allows governments within the State to pool their funds for investment
purposes. STAR Ohio is not registered with the SEC as an investment company, but has adopted
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB), Statement No. 79, “Certain External Investment
Pools and Pool Participants.” The City measures their investment in STAR Ohio at the net asset value
(NAV) per share provided by STAR Ohio. The NAV per share is calculated on an amortized cost basis that
provides an NAV per share that approximates fair value.

26



City of Forest Park, Ohio
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements
For The Year Ended December 31, 2019

For 2019, there were no limitations or restrictions on any participant withdrawals due to redemption
notice periods, liquidity fees, or redemption gates. However, notice must be given 24 hours in advance
of all deposits and withdrawals exceeding $25 million. STAR Ohio reserves the right to limit the
transaction to $100 million, requiring the excess amount to be transacted the following business day(s),
but only to the $100 million limit. All accounts of the participant will be combined for these purposes.

Following the Charter and Codified Ordinances of the City as well as the Ohio Revised Code, the City has
specified the funds to receive an allocation of interest earnings. Interest revenues during 2019
amounted to $551,462 on the fund level and $548,560 on the full-accrual level. Interest revenue on the
fund level credited to the General Fund amounted to $382,741, $8,728 credited to the Economic
Development Fund, $46,511 credited to the Fire Fund, $77,820 credited to Other Governmental Funds,
$22,301 credited to the Stormwater Management Fund and $13,361 credited to the Solid Waste
Collection Fund.

Prepaid Items

Payments made for services that will benefit periods beyond December 31, 2019, are recorded as
prepaid items using the consumption method. A current asset for the prepaid amount is recorded at the
time of the purchase and an expenditure/expense in the year in which services are consumed.

Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include property, plant, and equipment are reported in the governmental activities
column of the government-wide statement of net position but are not reported in the fund financial
statements.

All capital assets are capitalized at cost (or estimated historical cost) and updated for additions and
retirements during the year. Donated capital assets, donated works of art and similar items, and capital
assets received in a service concession arrangement are reported at acquisition value rather than fair
value. The City maintains a capitalization threshold of $5,000. Improvements are capitalized; the costs
of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially extend an
asset's life are not. Interest incurred during the construction of capital assets is also capitalized.

All reported capital assets are depreciated except for land. Improvements are depreciated over the
remaining useful lives of the related capital assets. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line
method over the following useful lives:

Description Estimated Lives
Buildings and Improvements 20 to 50 years
Equipment 5to 20 years

Infrastructure 20 to 50 years

Compensated Absences

The City reports compensated absences in accordance with the provisions of GASB No. 16, Accounting
for Compensated Absences. Vacation benefits are accrued as a liability as the benefits are earned if the
employees' rights to receive compensation are attributable to services already rendered and it is
probable that the employer will compensate the employees for the benefits through paid time off or
some other means.
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Sick leave benefits are accrued as a liability using the vesting method. The liability includes the
employees who are currently eligible to receive termination benefits and those that the City has
identified as probable of receiving payment in the future. The amount is based on accumulated sick
leave and employee wage rates at year end taking into consideration any limits specified in the City's
termination policy. The City records a liability for all accumulated unused vacation time when earned for
all employees. The City records a liability for accumulated unused sick leave for all employees after
twenty years of accumulated service or when otherwise eligible for retirement through a pension
system.

The entire compensated absence liability is reported on the government-wide financial statements. For
governmental funds, a liability is recorded for compensated absences only if they have matured, for
example, as a result of employee resignations and/or retirements.

Accrued Liabilities and Long-Term Obligations

All payables, accrued liabilities and long-term obligations are reported in the government-wide financial
statements.

In general, governmental fund payables and accrued liabilities that, once incurred, are paid in a timely
manner and in full from current financial resources, are reported as obligations of the funds. However,
claims and judgments, and compensated absences that will be paid from governmental funds are
reported as a liability in the fund financial statements only to the extent that they are due for payment
during the current year. Bonds, capital leases and long-term loans are recognized as a liability on the
fund financial statements when due.

Pensions/Other Postemployment Benefits (OPEB)

For purposes of measuring the net pension/OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred
inflows of resources related to pensions/OPEB, and pension/OPEB expense, information about the
fiduciary net position of the pension/OPEB plans and additions to/deductions from their fiduciary net
position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by the pension/OPEB plan. For
this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due
and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. The pension/OPEB plans report investments at fair
value.

Fund Balance

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 54, Fund Balance
Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, the City classifies its fund balance based on the
purpose for which the resources were received and the level of constraint placed on the resources. The
following categories are used:

Nonspendable — resources that are not in spendable form (inventory) or have legal or
contractual requirements to maintain the balance intact.

Restricted — spendable resources that have external purpose restraints imposed on them by
providers, such as creditors, grantors, or other regulators.
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Committed — spendable resources that are constrained for specific purposes that are internally
imposed by the government at its highest level of decision making authority, City Council. This is
done by ordinance by City Council.

Assigned — resources that are intended to be used for specific purposes as approved through the
City’s formal purchasing procedure by the Finance Director.

Unassigned — residual fund balance within the General Fund that is not restricted, committed, or
assigned. In other governmental funds, the unassigned classification is used only to report a
deficit balance resulting from incurred expenditures for specific purposes exceeding amounts
which had been restricted, committed or assigned for said purposes.

The City applies restricted resources first when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which either
restricted or unrestricted (committed, assigned, and unassigned) amounts are available. Similarly,
within unrestricted fund balance, committed amounts are reduced first followed by assigned, and then
unassigned amounts when expenditures are incurred for purposes for which amounts in any of the
unrestricted fund balance classifications could be used.

Net Position

Net position represents the difference between assets, deferred outflows, liabilities and deferred
inflows. Net investment in capital assets, consists of capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation,
reduced by the outstanding balances of any borrowing used for the acquisition, construction or
improvement of those assets. Net position is reported as restricted when there are limitations imposed
on its use either through the enabling legislation adopted by the City or through external restrictions
imposed by creditors, grantors or laws or regulations of other governments.

The City applies restricted resources when an expense is incurred for purposes for which both restricted
and unrestricted net position are available. Of the City’s $7,724,881 in restricted net position, none was
restricted by enabling legislation.

Interfund Activity

Transfers between governmental and business-type activities on the government-wide statements are
reported in the same manner as general revenues.

Exchange transactions between funds are reported as revenues in the seller funds and as
expenditures/expenses in the purchaser funds. Flows of cash or goods from one fund to another
without a requirement for repayment are reported as interfund transfers. Interfund transfers are
reported as other financing sources/uses in governmental funds and after nonoperating
revenues/expenses in proprietary funds. Repayments from funds responsible for particular
expenditures/expenses to the funds that initially paid for them are not presented on the financial
statements.

As a general rule, the effect of interfund (internal) activity has been eliminated from the government-

wide statement of activities. The interfund services provided and used are not eliminated through the
process of consolidation.
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Estimates
The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the

financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

Note 3 — Equity in Pooled Cash and Investments

Cash resources of several individual funds are combined to form a pool of cash and investments. Each
fund type’s portion of this pool is displayed on the combined balance sheet as “Equity in Pooled Cash
and Investments.”

State statute requires the classification of monies held by the City into three categories:

Active Monies - Those monies required to be kept in a "cash" or "near cash" status for
immediate use by the City. Such monies must by law be maintained either as cash in the City
treasury, in depository accounts payable or withdrawable on demand.

Inactive Monies - Those monies not required for use within the current two year period of
designated depositories. Ohio law permits inactive monies to be deposited or invested as
certificates of deposit maturing not later than the end of the current period of designated
depositories, or as savings or deposit accounts, including, but not limited to passbook
accounts.

Interim Monies - Those monies which are not needed for immediate use but which will be
needed before the end of the current period of designation of depositories. Ohio law permits
interim monies to be invested or deposited in the following securities:

(1) Bonds, notes, or other obligations of or guaranteed by the United States, or
those for which the faith of the United States is pledged for the payment of
principal and interest.

(2) Bonds, notes, debentures, or other obligations or securities issued by any
federal governmental agency.

(3) No-load money market mutual funds consisting exclusively of obligations
described in (1) or (2) above and repurchase agreements secured by such
obligations, provided that investments in securities described in this division are
made only through eligible institutions.

(4) Interim deposits in the eligible institutions applying for interim monies to be
evidenced by time certificates of deposit maturing not more than one year from
date of deposit, or by savings or deposit accounts, including, but not limited to,

passbook accounts.

(5) Bonds and other obligations of the State of Ohio.
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(6) The Ohio State Treasurer's investment pool (STAR Ohio).

(7) Commercial paper and banker’s acceptances which meet the requirements
established by Ohio Revised Code, Sec. 135.142.

(8) Under limited circumstances, corporate debt interests in either of the two
highest rating classifications by at least two nationally recognized rating
agencies.

Protection of the City's deposits is provided by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC), by
eligible securities pledged by the financial institution as security for repayment, or by the financial
institution’s participation in the Ohio Pooled Collateral System (OPCS), a collateral pool of eligible
securities deposited with a qualified trustee and pledged to the Treasurer of State to secure the
repayment of all public monies deposited in the financial institution.

Investments in stripped principal or interest obligations, reverse repurchase agreements and derivatives
are prohibited. The issuance of taxable notes for the purpose of arbitrage, the use of leverage and short
selling are also prohibited. An investment must mature within five years from the date of purchase
unless matched to a specific obligation or debt of the City, and must be purchased with the expectation
that it will be held to maturity. Investments may only be made through specified dealers and
institutions. Payment for investments may be made only upon delivery of the securities representing
the investments to the treasurer or, if the securities are not represented by a certificate, upon receipt of
confirmation of transfer from the custodian.

Deposits

Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that in the event of bank failure, the City will not be able to
recover deposits or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. As of December
31, 2019, $388,313 of the City’s bank balance of $638,313 was exposed to custodial credit risk because it
was uninsured and collateralized.

The City has no deposit policy for custodial risk beyond the requirements of State statute. Ohio law
requires that deposits either be insured or protected by:

Eligible securities pledged to the City and deposited with a qualified trustee by the financial
institution as security for repayment whose market value at all times shall be at least 105% of the
deposits being secured; or

Participation in the Ohio Pooled Collateral System (OPCS), a collateral pool of eligible securities
deposited with a qualified trustee and pledged to the Treasurer of State to secure the repayment of
all public monies deposited in the financial institution. OPCS requires the total market value of the
securities pledged to be 102% of the deposits being secured or a rate set by the Treasurer of State.

Investments

As of December 31, 2019, the City had the following investments:
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Fair Value Weighted Average
Value Hierarchy Maturity (Years)
Federal National Mortgage Association $250,285 Level 2 4,51
US Treasury Notes 971,023 Level 1 1.86
Federal Home Loan Bank 749,806 Level 2 3.10
Federal Farm Credit Bank 925,046 Level 2 3.48
Certificates of Deposit 9,254,358 Level 2 2.75
Federal Home Loan Mortgage 747,299 Level 2 3.85
Commercial Paper 1,500,497 Level 2 0.42
STAR Ohio 94,564 N/A 0.15
Money Market Funds 1,113,238 N/A 0.00
$15,606,116
Portfolio Weighted Average Maturity 2.39

The City categorizes its fair value measurements with the fair value hierarchy established by generally
accepted accounting principles. The Hierarchy is based on the valuation inputs used to measure the fair
value of the asset. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets. Level 2 inputs
are significant other observable inputs. Level 3 inputs are significant unobservable inputs. The above
table identifies the City’s recurring fair value measurements as of December 31, 2019. STAR Ohio is
reported at its share price (Net Asset value per share).

Interest Rate Risk - In accordance with the investment policy, the City manages its exposure to declines
in fair values by limiting the weighted average maturity of its investment portfolio to two years, unless
matched to a specified obligation or debt of the City.

Credit Risk - It is the City's policy to limit its investments that are not obligations of the U.S. Government
or obligations explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. Government to investments which have the highest
credit quality rating issued by nationally recognized statistical rating organizations. The City's
investments in Federal Home Loan Mortgage, Federal National Mortgage Association, Federal Home
Loan Bank, and Federal Farm Credit Bank, were rated AA+ by Standard and Poor's and Fitch ratings and
Aaa by Moody's Investor Service. Certificates of Deposit, US Treasury Notes and Money Market Funds
were not rated. Investments in STAR Ohio were rated AAAm by Standard & Poor’s. The City’s
investments in Commercial Paper were rated A-1+ by Standard & Poor’s ratings and P-1 by Moody’s
Investment Service.

Concentration of Credit Risk - The City's investment policy allows investments in Federal Government
Securities or Instrumentalities. The City has invested 59.4% in Certificates of Deposit, 1.6% in Federal
National Mortgage Association, 4.8% in Federal Home Loan Mortgage, 4.8% in Federal Home Loan Bank,
9.6% in Commercial Paper, 5.9% in Federal Farm Credit Bank, 6.2% in U.S. Treasury Notes, 0.6% in STAR
Ohio and 7.1% in Money Market Funds.

Custodial Credit Risk is the risk that in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the City will not be
able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an
outside party. All of the City's securities are either insured and registered in the name of the City or at
least registered in the name of the City.
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Note 4 — Receivables

Receivables at year end consisted primarily of taxes receivable, interest receivable, intergovernmental
receivable, and accounts receivable.

No allowances for doubtful accounts have been recorded because uncollectible amounts are expected
to be insignificant.

Property Taxes

Property taxes include amounts levied against all real, public utility, and tangible personal property
located in the City. Property tax revenue received during 2019 for real and public utility property taxes
represents collections of the 2018 taxes.

The 2019 real property taxes are levied after October 1, 2019, on the assessed value as of January 1,
2019, the lien date. Assessed values are established by State law at 35 percent of appraised market
value. 2019 real property taxes are collected in and intended to finance 2020 operations.

Public utility personal property currently is assessed at varying percentages of true value; public utility
real property is assessed at 35 percent of true value. The 2019 public utility property taxes became a
lien on December 31, 2018, are levied after October 1, 2019, and are collected in 2019 with real
property taxes.

The assessed values of real and public utility personal property upon which current year property tax
receipts were based are as follows:

Amount
Real Property $297,437,710
Public Utility 16,980,640
Total $314,418,350

Real property taxes are payable annually or semi-annually. The first payment is due on January 20 with
the remainder payable by June 20.

The County Treasurer collects property taxes on behalf of all taxing districts in the county, including the
City. The County Auditor periodically remits to the City its portion of the taxes collected. Accrued
property taxes receivable represents real and tangible personal property taxes, public utility taxes and
outstanding delinquencies which are measurable as of year end for which there is an enforceable legal
claim. Although total property tax collections for the next year are measurable, amounts to be received
during the available period are not subject to reasonable estimation at year end, nor were they levied to
finance current year operations. The receivable is therefore offset by deferred inflows.

Income Taxes
Income taxes are imposed at the rate of one and one-half percent (1.50%) per annum on salaries,

wages, commissions, other compensation, and net profits. When a resident of the City is subject to a
municipal income tax in another municipality, township, or county, the resident receives a credit not to
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exceed thee hundred seventy-five thousandths of one percent (.375%) against the tax imposed on the
earnings taxed by such a municipality, township, or county.

Each taxpayer is required to file a return on or before April 15th of each year for the prior year. When
the return is filed for a fiscal year or other period different from a calendar year, the return shall be filed

within four months from the end of such fiscal year or period.

Note 5 — Risk Management

The City is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to, and destruction of
assets; errors and omissions; injuries to employees; and natural disasters. The City carries commercial
general liability insurance against these risks and all other risks of loss, including workers' compensation
and employee health and accident insurance.

There have been no significant reductions in insurance coverage from that of prior years and
settlements have not exceeded insurance coverage for any of the past three fiscal years.

Note 6 — Capital Assets

Capital asset activity for the current year end was as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Deletions Balance
Governmental Activities
Capital Assets, not being depreciated:
Land $14,391,776 $9,625 S0 $14,401,401
Total Capital Assets, not being depreciated 14,391,776 9,625 0 14,401,401
Capital Assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and Improvements 8,581,675 411,805 0 8,993,480
Equipment 10,850,088 950,792 0 11,800,880
Infrastructure 46,128,796 593,030 0 46,721,826
Totals at Historical Cost 79,952,335 1,965,252 0 81,917,587
Less Accumulated Depreciation:
Buildings and Improvements 4,068,349 177,661 0 4,246,010
Equipment 6,588,534 814,467 0 7,403,001
Infrastructure 24,251,907 1,003,632 0 25,255,539
Total Accumulated Depreciation 34,908,790 1,995,760 0 36,904,550
Governmental Activities Capital Assets, Net $45,043,545 (530,508) SO $45,013,037
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Business-Type Activities

Capital Assets, not being depreciated:
Land

Construction in Progress

Total Capital Assets, not being depreciated

Capital Assets, being depreciated:
Buildings and Improvements
Equipment

Infrastructure

Totals at Historical Cost
Less Accumulated Depreciation:
Buildings and Improvements

Equipment
Infrastructure

Total Accumulated Depreciation

Business-Type Activities Capital Assets, Net

Depreciation expense was charged to governmental functions as follows:

General Government
Public Safety

Leisure Time
Transportation

Total Depreciation Expense

Note 7 — Compensated Absences

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Deletions Balance
$179,780 S0 S0 $179,780

8,955 0 8,955 0
188,735 0 8,955 179,780
48,616 0 0 48,616
64,278 0 0 64,278
2,479,759 233,718 0 2,713,477
2,781,388 233,718 8,955 3,006,151
13,449 1,125 0 14,574
56,596 947 0 57,543
413,777 99,523 0 513,300
483,822 101,595 0 585,417
$2,297,566 $132,123 $8,955 $2,420,734

$95,856
502,001

43,919

1,353,984

$1,995,760

Accumulated Unpaid Vacation

City employees earn vacation leave at varying rates based upon length of service. All employees may
accrue a maximum of 25 days. Vacation days may not be carried over from year to the next without the
approval of the City Manager. In the event of a termination of employment, death, or retirement,
employees (or their estates) are paid for unused vacation leave.

Accumulated Unpaid Sick Leave

City employees earn sick leave at the rate of 10 hours per complete month of service (12 hours for Fire
union employees). A maximum of 1,800 hours may be carried from one year to the next. Any hours over
1,800 accrued and not taken may be paid or used on a one for three basis by the end of the year. In the
case of death or retirement, employees (or the employees' estates) are paid for one half of their
accumulated leave with 900 hours being the maximum amount paid.
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Accumulated Unpaid Compensatory Time

From time to time, employees may need, with prior approval from their supervisors, to work overtime.
These overtime hours will usually be paid at the appropriate overtime rate; however, with permission of
the supervisor, an employee may have the option of taking the overtime in compensatory time at one
and one half times the amount of hours worked.

Note 8 — Notes Payable

A summary of the note transactions for the current year end are as follows:

Beginning Ending
Balance Additions Deletions Balance
Bond Anticipation Notes:
Governmental Activities:
Various Purpose Bond Anticipation Notes 3.50% 4,290,000 0 (4,290,000) 0
Total Governmental Activities $4,290,000 S0 ($4,290,000) S0

Note 9 — Long-Term Debt

A schedule of changes in bonds and other long-term obligations of the City during the current year
follows:

Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions Deletions Balance One Year
Governmental Activities
Unvoted General Obligation Bonds and Notes
3.89% Refunding of Various Purpose $270,000 S0 ($270,000) S0 S0
Premium on Refunding 9,433 0 (9,433) 0 0
Long-Term Bond Anticipation Notes 0 4,188,000 0 4,188,000 4,188,000
Total Bonds and Notes 279,433 4,188,000 (279,433) 4,188,000 4,188,000
Capital Lease 2,454,113 300,000 (767,387) 1,986,726 773,291
Net Pension Liability:
OPERS 3,551,124 2,641,444 0 6,192,568 0
OP&F 14,474,443 4,945,708 0] 19,420,151
Total Net Pension Liability 18,025,567 7,587,152 0 25,612,719
Net OPEB Liability:
OPERS 2,458,719 533,688 0 2,992,407 0
OP&F 13,362,251 0 (11,195,670) 2,166,581 0
Total Net OPEB Liability 15,820,970 533,688 (11,195,670) 5,158,988
Total Long-Term Debt 36,580,083 12,608,840  (12,242,490) 36,946,433 4,961,291
Compensated Absences 394,226 0 (22,048) 372,178 0
Total Governmental Activities 36,974,309 12,608,840  (12,264,538) 37,318,611 4,961,291
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Beginning Ending Due Within
Balance Additions  Deletions Balance One Year
Business-Type Activities
Net Pension Liability:

OPERS 98,547 73,302 0 171,849 0
Total Net Pension Liability 98,547 73,302 0 171,849 0
Net OPEB Liability:

OPERS 68,232 14,810 0 83,042 0
Total Net OPEB Liability 68,232 14,810 0 83,042 0
Compensated Absences 1,134 1,161 (193) 2,102 357

Total Business-Type Activities $167,913 $89,273 ($193) $256,993 $357

In May of 2020, the City issued $4,395,000 of 2020 bond anticipation notes payable to renew the 2019
bond anticipation notes payable. As the new notes extended the maturity date of the bond anticipation
notes past 12 months after the date of the financial statements the bond anticipation notes will be
treated as long term obligations of the City.

The funds which will be used to pay the Compensated Absences are as follows: General Fund, Street
Fund, Fire Fund, and Stormwater Management Utility Fund and Solid Waste Collection Fund. The funds
which will be used to pay the bonds, note, and lease are as follows: Carillon Business Park TIF Fund,
Debt Service Fund, Capital Improvement Fund, and Police Capital Equipment Fund. Net Pension Liability
represents the long-term portion of the accrued liability associated with OPERS and OP&F pension
liability. These items will be repaid from the funds from which the employees work to whom the liability
is associated with or the General Fund if no such funds are available.

Pension Liabilities are typically paid through the General Fund, the Street Fund and the Fire Fund.

The City is subject to certain constitutional and statutory general obligation debt limitations. As of
December 31, 2019, the City has not exceeded the debt limitations.

Note 10 — Capitalized Leases — Lessee Disclosure

In 2019, the City entered into a new capital lease for public works, police and fire vehicles and
equipment in the amount of $300,000.

In 2018, the City entered into a new capital lease for public works, police and fire vehicles in the amount
of $1,610,445.

In 2017, the City entered into a new capital lease for police vehicles and equipment in the amount of
$250,000.

Capital lease payments have been reclassified and are reflected as debt service expenditures in the basic
financial statements for the governmental funds. These expenditures are reflected as program

expenditures on a budgetary basis.

General capital assets consisting of equipment have been capitalized in the amount of $3,833,963 which
equals the present value of the future minimum lease payments at the time of acquisition.
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The following is a schedule of the future minimum lease payments required under the capital leases and
the present value of the minimum lease payments as of December 31, 2019.

Long-Term
Year Debt
2020 $830,954
2021 640,347
2022 369,361
2023 203,923
2024 23,103
2025 23,103
2026 10,762
Total minimum lease payments 2,101,553
Less: Amount representing interest (114,827)
Present value of minimum lease payments $1,986,726

Note 11 - Defined Benefit Pension Plans

The Statewide retirement systems provide both pension and other postemployment benefits (OPEB).
Net Pension Liability/Net OPEB Liability

Pensions and OPEB are a component of exchange transactions-—between an employer and its
employees—of salaries and benefits for employee services. Pensions are provided to an employee—on
a deferred-payment basis—as part of the total compensation package offered by an employer for
employee services each financial period.

The net pension liability and the 